

Version 1.03



Coupland I.S.D.

Board Operating Procedures

07-Mar-2023 Page 1 of 26



Version 1.03

Table of Contents

Introduction	4
Preamble Our Mission Document Purpose	4 4 4
Board Member Code of Ethics	5
Equity in attitude Trustworthiness in stewardship Honor in conduct Integrity of character Commitment to service Student centered focus	5 5 5 5 5 5
Board Code of Conduct	6
Board Meeting Agenda	8
Regular Meeting Agenda Special Meetings Annual Calendar of Board Agenda Items Developing the Meeting Agenda Items that cannot be on the Agenda Use of Consent Agenda	8 9 9 11 12 12
Board Meeting Protocol	13
Board Member Meeting Conduct Patrons Addressing the Board (i.e. Public Comments) Board Response to Patrons Addressing the Board Voting Meeting Preparation	13 14 14 15 15
Hearings	15
Individual Board Member Request for Information or Report	16
Citizen Request / Complaint to Individual Board Members	16
Employee Request / Complaint to Individual Board Members	17
Communications	17
Board / Superintendent Communications Communication among Trustees Communication with Legal Counsel Communication with the Public Board / District Staff Communication	17 17 18 18 18

07-Mar-2023 Page 2 of 26



Version 1.03

Media Inquiries to the Board or Board Member	18
Evaluation of the Superintendent	19
Evaluation of the Board	19
Criteria and Procedure for Selecting Board Officers	20
President Vice President Secretary Office Vacancy Criteria for Selecting the Board President and Vice President	20 20 21 21 21
Role and Authority of Board Members and/or Board Officers	22
Role of the Board in Executive (Closed) Session	22
Required Board Member Training	23
District Goal Setting	24
Board Members as Parents	24
Board Members as School Support Organization Members/Officers	24
Reimbursable Expenses	24
Campaigning for Election or Re-Election	25
Violations and Sanctions	25
Board Review of Code of Ethics and Board Operating Procedures	25
Procedures for Board Members Visiting Campuses	26
Document Revision History	27

07-Mar-2023 Page 3 of 26



Version 1.03

Introduction

Preamble

It is essential to the smooth and efficient functioning of the District that Board members thoroughly understand and adhere to their proper role which is to govern and oversee the management of the District. Board members may not attempt to exercise individual authority over the District and members' interactions with the Superintendent or staff and must recognize the lack of authority vested in individuals except when explicitly Board authorized. Board members are prohibited from participating in the day to day operations of the school district. The governance framework for Coupland ISD is set forth in Policies BA, BAA, BBB, BBE, BEC, BED, in the Coupland ISD District Policy Book, Coupland ISD Board Code of Conduct and Board Operating Procedures.

Our Mission

Inspiring LEADERS through Learning, Exploration, Achievement, Dedication, Empowerment, Respect, Self-determination.



Document Purpose

This document will provide procedures that will govern the conduct of the Coupland Board of Trustees. While it is the intent of this document to be a supplement to existing policies, in the case where discrepancies might occur, the District's policies will prevail. The term "Trustee" or "Board Member" may be used interchangeably throughout this document. Both terms are intended to reflect all duties and obligations of the office.

07-Mar-2023 Page 4 of 26



Version 1.03

Board Member Code of Ethics

Equity in attitude

- I will be fair, just and impartial in all my decisions and actions.
- I will accord others the respect I wish for myself.
- I will encourage expressions of different opinions and listen with an open mind to others' ideas.

Trustworthiness in stewardship

- I will be accountable to the public by representing District policies, programs, priorities, and progress accurately.
- I will be responsive to the community by seeking its involvement in District affairs and by communicating its priorities and concerns.
- I will work to ensure prudent and accountable use of District resources.
- I will make no personal promise or take private action that may compromise my performance or my responsibilities.

Honor in conduct

- I will tell the truth.
- I will share my views while working for consensus.
- I will respect the majority decision as the decision of the Board.
- I will base my decisions on fact rather than supposition, opinion, or public favor.

Integrity of character

- I will refuse to surrender judgment to any individual or group at the expense of the District as a whole.
- I will consistently uphold all applicable laws, rules, policies, and board governance procedures.
- I will not disclose information that is confidential by law or that will needlessly harm the District if disclosed.

Commitment to service

- I will diligently prepare for and attend Board meetings.
- I will focus my attention on fulfilling the Board's responsibilities of goal setting, policymaking, and evaluation.
- I will avoid personal involvement in activities the Board has delegated to the Superintendent.
- I will seek continuing education that will enhance my ability to fulfill my duties effectively.

Student centered focus

I will be continuously guided by what is best for all students of the District.

07-Mar-2023 Page 5 of 26



Version 1.03

Board Code of Conduct

As members of the Coupland Independent School District Board of Trustees, we realize that to be the most effective advocates for children, we, as a Board, must function as a team and at all times treat each other and the people we serve with the utmost courtesy, dignity, respect and professionalism. Trustees should behave in a manner that reflects positively on themselves and the school district. Should we, for whatever reason, fail to follow these guidelines, we ask that our fellow Board members call it to our attention. Should that occur, we pledge to accept the feedback without anger or retribution, and to renew our efforts to follow this Code of Conduct and Board Operating Procedures. We shall promote the best interests of the school district as a whole, and, to that end, we shall adhere to the following educational and ethical standards.

- **We** / I will bring about desired changes through legal and ethical procedures, upholding and enforcing all laws, administrative rules and regulations, court orders pertaining to schools, and district policies and procedures.
- **We / I** will make decisions in terms of the educational welfare of all children in the District, regardless of ability, race, creed, sex, national origin, disability or social standing. All decisions will place the needs of children first.
- We / I will recognize that the Board must make decisions as a whole, as a body corporate, and make
 no personal promise or take private action that may compromise the role and integrity of the Board.
 All Board action must take place in an official Board meeting.
- **We / I** will focus Board action on policy making, goal setting, planning, and evaluation as outlined in Board policy and state law.
- **We / I** will vote to appoint the best qualified personnel available after due consideration of the recommendation by the Superintendent. We/I will expect yearly evaluations of all staff by the appropriate personnel.
- **We / I** recognize that the role of the Board is to govern and oversee the management of the District. I will delegate authority to the Superintendent for the day to day operations of the district.
- We / I will hold confidential all matters that if disclosed, may have a negative impact on the District. I
 will respect the confidentiality of information that is privileged under applicable law, including closed
 session discussions.
- To the extent possible, We / I will attend all regularly scheduled and specially set Board meetings, arrive on time, and will be informed of the issues to be considered at the meetings. We / I will assist in making policy decisions only after full discussion at publicly held Board meetings, and will render all decisions based on available facts, and I refuse to surrender judgment to individuals or special groups.
- We / I will refrain from using our Board position for personal or partisan gain.
- **We / I** will disagree in an agreeable manner. I will not hold grudges or question other Board members' ethics or motives as to their vote or views on issues in public.

07-Mar-2023 Page 6 of 26



Version 1.03

- We / I will be firm, fair, just and impartial in all decisions and actions.
- We / I will respect the majority decision as the decision of the Board.
- We / I will not step outside my role to govern and oversee the management of the
- **We / I** will encourage the free expression of opinion by all Board members. I will make a good faith effort to understand and accommodate the views of others.
- We / I recognize the appropriate channels to refer complaints to the Superintendent and will do so.
- **We / I** will seek communication between the Board, students, staff, and the community at Board meetings, as required.
- If a member of the public expresses concerns, **We / I** will communicate to fellow Board members and the Superintendent at appropriate times.
- We / I will not withhold District information from other Board members.
- **We / I** will become informed about current educational issues and seek continuing education opportunities, such as those sponsored by state and national school Board associations.
- **We / I** will disseminate pertinent information gathered at training workshops and conventions with the Superintendent and fellow Board members.
- **We / I** will make sure that persons addressing the Board follow established policy guidelines.
- **We / I** will make sure that persons addressing the Board do so in a professional manner.
- **We / I** will ensure that all Board members are given an opportunity to reflect their views and will work toward building consensus among all Board members.

07-Mar-2023 Page 7 of 26



Version 1.03

Board Meeting Agenda

Any time four or more Board members are gathered together to discuss school business; it is considered a meeting. The Coupland ISD Board of Trustees meets regularly on the second Thursday of every month.

Regular Meeting Agenda

This section will describe the board meeting structure as typical for a regular meeting.

CALL TO ORDER / Establish a Quorum

PUBLIC COMMENTS

ACTION ITEMS:

- 1. Monthly Action Items:
 - a. Approve the minutes for the previous Board meeting(s) (Regular and/or Special)
 - b. Approve the bills and financial reports
 - c. Amend budget as recommended
- 2. Consider approval of additional action items as needed:
 - a. Items on Annual Calendar of Board Agenda
 - b. Goals added to appraisal/goals clarified for appraisal
 - c. Directives to the Superintendent
 - d. Discuss items to be placed on next agenda
 - e. TASB Policy updates

DISCUSSION ITEMS:

Items which require discussion, but no action during the monthly meeting

SUPERINTENDENT'S REPORT:

- 1. Enrollment report
- 2. Report on progress for Superintendent goals and/or summer projects as relevant
- 3. Report on monthly activities (completed and planned)

EXECUTIVE SESSION:

As determined by the Board of Trustees, there may be an executive session pursuant to the Texas Open meetings Act (Texas Gov't Code 551.00) to discuss items relating to personnel (Texas Gov't Code 551.074), student discipline (Texas Gov't Code 551.082(1), attorney consultation (Texas Gov't Code 551.071) and/or the purchase, exchange, lease or value of real property (Texas Gov't Code 551.072). Any action will be taken in a public session.

An Executive Session - may occur at any time during the meeting as permitted under the Open Meetings Act. The list of topics below are some, but not an exhaustive list, of items that would be considered in an executive session.

Personnel - hiring of contractual personnel, resignations, contract terminations/non-renewals, issues.

07-Mar-2023 Page 8 of 26



Version 1.03

etc.

• Superintendent's appraisal, goals, directives, contract, compensation, etc.

ACTION ITEMS: (Action Items post executive session are items that must be discussed in executive session.)

- 1. Consider resignations/appointments of faculty & staff
- 2. Consider additions to substitute list
- Consider Superintendent contract

ADJOURNMENT

This agenda is posted on the day of Month, Year at 12:00 p.m. on the front door of the school building and on the school district website.

Special Meetings

The Board President shall call special meetings at the Board President's discretion or on request by two members of the Board.

The Board President shall call an emergency meeting when it is determined by the Board President or two members of the Board that an emergency or urgent public necessity, as defined by law, warrants the meeting.

Further details regarding special meetings and the laws governing these, see Coupland ISD Board Policy BE (Legal and Local).

Annual Calendar of Board Agenda Items

The table below provides a list of items which will generally appear on the agenda during the month specified. Due to a variety of factors, items may not always fall in the month listed.

Month	Action Items	Reports/Information/Discussion Items
September	 Class Size Waivers (if necessary) Approval of District/Campus Improvement Plan Approve Bastrop & Williamson County Adjunct Faculty Agreements 	 Procedures for dismissal of school due to weather conditions Beginning School Enrollment Report Free & Reduced Lunch Information
October	 Approval of tax roll resolution Williamson County and Travis County Appraisal Districts Set Board meeting for canvassing election return (even years only) 	 Staff Appreciation Event Planning Plan annual Team of 8 training

07-Mar-2023 Page 9 of 26



Version 1.03

		Reports/Information/Discussion
Month	Action Items	Items
November	 Induct new Board members Board Reorganization 	 Fall ADA Report October special population enrollment: bilingual/ESL students Canvas ballots for trustee/special election (special meeting) Oath of Office (Even years only) Public Hearing – FIRST Financial Rating Workshop Provide new board member(s) with local orientation Plan for Superintendent Evaluation and set evaluation date
December	 Announcement of Board Continuing Education Hours Review of Board Operating Procedures 	 Consider budget plan / timeline Staff Appreciation Event Executive session Superintendent's mid-year (Formative) review Superintendent delivers self-evaluation and required evaluation reports
January	 Annual audit report for previous year Approve audit firm for upcoming year Consider budget plan / timeline Superintendent Annual (Summative) Evaluation Superintendent Contract Consideration 	 Superintendent's evaluation form approved if changes needed Begin District Goal Setting Determine/plan summer projects Set Superintendent Goals for the following year
February	 Public Hearing – Texas Academic Performance Report Public Hearing- FIRST Adopt School Calendar for next school year 	Proposed School CalendarDiscipline Report
March	Teacher Contract RenewalsFinalize district goals	 Review of Technology Plan Updates Set calendar for end of year activities/graduation
April	Review compensation/benefits packageBoard Self-Evaluation	
May	Bank Depository Bids (every other year)Approval of summer projects	 Begin Budget Planning Review professional development report Review District/Campus Improvement Plan

07-Mar-2023 Page 10 of 26



Version 1.03

		Reports/Information/Discussion
Month June	 Action Items Superintendent Annual (Summative) Evaluation Superintendent Contract Consideration Cafeteria Services Report and Prices for the next year 	 Budget Planning Continued Consider new or modified programs for upcoming school year Executive session Superintendent's mid-year (Formative) review Review Employee/Staff Handbook Draft Review Student Handbook & Code of Conduct Draft
July	 Approve Employee Handbook Approve Code of Conduct Order Trustee election and approve contract for election services (Even years only) Establish Trustee Election Dates (Even years only) 	 Budget Workshop Consider TASB attendance at TASB Conference in September Select TASB Delegate and Alternate Announcement of Board Continuing Education Hours and release to media
August	 Approve budget for upcoming year Amend budget for previous year Accept certification of appraisal roll for the certified taxable value Approval of clubs for extra-curricular absence purposes Approve district teacher appraisal calendar Set the Tax Rate (Special Board Meeting) Budget Hearing (Special Board Meeting) 	Review Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan

Developing the Meeting Agenda

The following guidelines clarify how the Agenda is set and how a Board Member may place an item on the agenda.

- 1. The Superintendent in consultation with the Board President, on the Thursday prior to the following Thursday's Board Meeting, prepares the meeting agenda. The agenda is finalized, approved by the Board President and sent to the Board on the Friday prior to the Thursday meeting.
- 2. Board members may request an item for inclusion on the agenda. Requests may be made through the Superintendent or the Board President. The deadline for submitting agenda items is the seventh calendar day before regular meetings and the fifth calendar day before special meetings. (Procedure

07-Mar-2023 Page 11 of 26



Version 1.03

BE (Local)).

- 3. The Superintendent and Board President shall include on the agenda, all Board members requested agenda items that have been timely submitted, and submitted in accordance with the Board Operating Procedures.
- 4. The Board President shall not have authority to remove from the agenda a subject requested by a Board member without that Board member's specific authorization.
- 5. In accordance with the Texas Open Meetings Act, no item can be placed on the agenda less than 72 hours in advance of the meeting, except in an emergency as defined by law.

Items that cannot be on the Agenda

- 1. All personnel issues must be conducted in a Closed Session unless specifically required by Texas Open Meeting Law.
- 2. Anything that violates right to privacy, (i.e. Texas Open Meeting Act, Texas Open Records Act, cannot be placed on the agenda.

Use of Consent Agenda

A Consent Agenda shall include items of a routine and/or recurring nature grouped together under one Action Item. For each item listed as part of a consent agenda, the Board shall be furnished with background material. All such items shall be acted upon by one vote without separate discussion unless a Board member requests that an item be withdrawn for individual consideration. The remaining items shall be adopted under a single motion and vote. While a consent agenda is allowable under policy, Coupland ISD has chosen not to use consent agendas.

Consent items may include:

- All routine items
- Annual renewals of Region 13, Shared Service Agreements, and TEA matters
- Budget amendments
- Tax refunds over \$500
- Gifts, donations and bequests
- Financial information
- Minutes of Regular and Special Board meetings
- Updates of Board policy
- Routine personnel items
- Routine bid considerations
- Items recommended by the Superintendent

Board Meeting Protocol

Any time four or more Board members are gathered and discuss Board business, it is considered a meeting.

07-Mar-2023 Page 12 of 26



Version 1.03

Board members shall adhere to the Board Code of Conduct, at all times, in addition to the following procedures.

Board Member Meeting Conduct

- 1. Board members will follow the Board-approved code of ethics included in this procedural document in and out of the Board meetings.
- 2. Board members will comply with all legal and local policy regarding the execution of Board meetings.
- Board members will maintain professional and courteous behavior throughout the meeting even during emotionally charged discussions over complex issues.
 - a. Board members will demonstrate respect to fellow Board members and public participants through the following behavior:
 - b. Turn off or silence cell phones during the meeting.
 - c. Address each other, staff, and public with respect.
 - d. Speak after being acknowledged by the Board president.
 - e. Support hearing the voice of all Board members on each agenda item that is being discussed and refrain from dominating the conversation.
 - f. Refrain from condescending or critical comments to members of the staff, public or Board.
 - g. Focus on issues; not people or personalities.
 - h. Courteously accept other viewpoints and Board votes, which were not supported by self.
 - i. Seek solutions and reasonable compromises or consensus when there are differences of opinions.
 - Make decisions in the context of what is best for all students in the district.
 - k. Avoid immediate decisions and votes when the issue calls for more discussion, understanding, and a more in-depth approach or solution to the issue (except in emergency situations).
 - I. Be willing to publicly apologize to staff, patrons, or Board members if behavior is inappropriate or disruptive to the progress of the meeting.
 - m. Always attempt to have dialogue (multiple perspectives) rather than simple discussions (yes or no answers).
- Board shall observe the parliamentary guidelines in Robert's Rules of Order or Established Policy or Practice.
- 5. Discussion of Motions:
 - a. All discussions shall be directed solely to the business currently under deliberation.
 - b. The Board President has the responsibility to keep the discussion to the motion at hand and shall halt discussions that do not apply to the business currently before the Board.
- 6. The Superintendent and staff shall provide adequate information to the Board on a timely basis for agenda items requiring Board action.
- 7. Each Board member shall review the Board packet of information and be prepared for each Board Meeting.
- 8. Any Board member may request that an agenda item be tabled until the next meeting in order that the Board may receive additional information or have time to consider important items for Board action.

07-Mar-2023 Page 13 of 26



Version 1.03

Patrons Addressing the Board (i.e. Public Comments)

For details on public participation in Board meetings, see BED (Legal and Local). General rules may be found below:

- 1. Audience participation at Board meetings is limited to the portion of the meeting designated as Public Comments. At all other times during a Board meeting, the audience shall not enter into discussion or debate on matters being considered by the Board, unless recognized by the presiding officer.
- 2. The Board President will explain the process and rules for participating in Public Comments prior to recognizing the first speaker.
- 3. At regular meetings the Board shall allot a total of 30 minutes to hear persons who desire to make comments to the Board.
- 4. Persons who wish to participate in the Public Comments shall sign up with the presiding officer or designee before the meeting begins and shall indicate the topic about which they wish to speak.
- 5. No presentation shall exceed three minutes. However, depending on the circumstances, the presiding officer may alter the minutes of the speaker.

Board Response to Patrons Addressing the Board

- 1. Board members can hear comments.
- 2. The presiding officer or designee may determine whether a person addressing the Board has attempted to solve a matter administratively through resolutions channels established by policy. If not, the person shall be referred to the appropriate policy (list below) to seek resolution:
 - a. Employee complaints: DGBA
 - b. Student or Parent complaints: FNG
 - c. Public complaints: GF
- 3. The Superintendent may investigate item(s) and report back to the Board.
- 4. Board members cannot respond or enter into discussion with the audience during the meeting as:
 - a. Items on the Agenda will be discussed as appropriate and scheduled on the agenda.
 - b. Items not on the Agenda do not permit Board members to respond or discuss.
 - c. Board President may exercise discretion in allowing patron comments to exceed 3 minutes or to extend the 30 minute time allotted for Public Comments.
- 5. Discussion of Employee/Student Issues
 - The Board will not allow complaints regarding individual personnel in Public Comments, unless required by law.
 - b. The Board will not allow complaints regarding individual students in Public Comments, unless required by law.

07-Mar-2023 Page 14 of 26



Version 1.03

Voting

- 1. The Board shall provide the Superintendent an opportunity to present at a meeting an oral or written recommendation to the Board on any item that is voted on by the Board at the meeting (TEC 11.051).
- 2. The Board President has the right to discuss, make motions and resolutions, and vote on all matters coming before the Board (BDAA local).
- 3. In the case of a tie; motion is defeated.
- 4. All Board members will vote on all action items. A member should not abstain from voting except in the case of a conflict of interest.
- 5. All votes, including, dissenting and abstaining votes, shall be recorded in the minutes of the Board meeting.
- 6. In the case of a less than unanimous vote; Board members will support the majority decision and go forward in harmony regardless of how they may vote as an individual Board member.

Meeting Preparation

- 1. Board members shall come to meetings prepared having read the agenda packet material.
- 2. Clarifying questions should be addressed to the Superintendent in advance of the meeting and as early as possible in order to allow the Superintendent sufficient time to respond accurately and/or prepare clarifying information if needed.

Hearings

- 1. During a hearing, the Board is assembled to gather input only and not render a decision. All decisions must be made in open session.
- 2. The Board will not answer questions or enter into two-way dialogue during a hearing.
- 3. If a Board member wishes to question the school attorney, he/she will make a request to the Board President before the meeting for that purpose.
- 4. After the presentation of information by the person bringing the complaint and by the administration, the Board President shall ask the Board if there is any reason to recess. Should a Board member have questions that he/she desires to be asked of one of the presenters, then the Board member shall request that the President recess the meeting. During the recess, the questions to be asked shall be generated and shall be asked to the appropriate party by the Board President upon reconvening of the hearing.

Individual Board Member Request for Information or Report

1. When acting in his or her official capacity, an individual Board member has the right of access to all documents and records of the District, subject to the responsibility to comply with confidentiality requirements. This right does not extend to confidential student records.

07-Mar-2023 Page 15 of 26



Version 1.03

- 2. Board members will request information, or seek access to records, or request copies of records through the Superintendent.
- 3. Individual members shall not direct or require District employees to prepare reports derived from an analysis of information in existing District records or to create a new record compiled from information in existing District records. Directives to the Superintendent regarding the preparation of reports shall only be made after discussion and vote in a Board meeting held in compliance with the Open Meetings Act.
- 4. Written information/reports will be disseminated through the Superintendent's office and shared with all Board members.

Citizen Request / Complaint to Individual Board Members

The Board recognizes that, as elected officials, they will receive requests and complaints from the public; therefore, strict adherence to this procedure is required.

- 1. The Board member, who is presented with a request or complaint outside the Board meeting, will refer the citizen to the appropriate person/chain of command in the District.
- The Board member shall not become individually and personally involved in the request/complaint.
- 3. The Board member must remind the citizen of their role; as a Board member, they must remain impartial in the event the situation comes before the Board.
- 4. The Board member shall notify the Superintendent as soon as possible of the request/ complaint.
- 5. The Board member shall notify the Board President if the request or complaint involved activity that is serious enough to warrant the Superintendent's review. For example, such matters might include, but not be limited to, harassment, discrimination, illegal activities, or fear of retaliation for discussion of a situation.
- 6. The Coupland ISD Board of Trustees and Superintendent encourage input; however, anonymous calls or letters that imply danger to the District or individual students shall be reported to the Superintendent immediately.
- 7. A signed letter will be forwarded to the Superintendent who will send acknowledgment to the originator of the letter. The Superintendent will ensure that the citizen is contacted in a timely manner. The Superintendent will respond and address the request/concern and notify Board members of the disposition of the complaint.
- 8. The Board of Trustees encourages input, however, anonymous communications will not receive action by the Board or the Superintendent. Exception to this would be communications containing a clear and present threat to safety of persons or property.

Employee Request / Complaint to Individual Board Members

The Board recognizes that, as elected officials, they will receive requests and complaints from employees; therefore, strict adherence to this procedure is required.

1. The Board member shall refer the employee request or complaint to the appropriate person/chain of

07-Mar-2023 Page 16 of 26



Version 1.03

command in the District.

- 2. The Board member shall not become individually and personally involved in the request/complaint.
- 3. The Board member must remind the employee of their role: as a Board member, they must remain impartial in the event the situation comes before the Board.
- 4. The Board member shall notify the Superintendent as soon as possible of the request/ complaint.
- 5. The Superintendent will ensure that the employee's request/concern is addressed in a timely manner. Board members will be notified in a timely manner as well.

Communications

Board / Superintendent Communications

- 1. The Superintendent will communicate regularly with all Board members via emails, voice mail, telephone, text messages, etc.
- The Superintendent will meet with the Board President as needed to discuss issues of the district.
- 3. If a Board member has a concern about any aspect of the Superintendent's duties or performance, he/she should go to the Superintendent and discuss the problem in person.
- 4. Individual Board members cannot speak in an official capacity for the Board outside the Board room, unless otherwise authorized by the Board.
- 5. Board members will communicate through email or in any other medium with each other only in a manner that is in compliance with the Texas Open Meetings Act.
- 6. The Superintendent will communicate information in a timely fashion to all Board members as circumstances require.

Communication among Trustees

- 1. Board members are free to communicate with each other on a one on one basis, but will not communicate with each other in a manner that either explicitly or implicitly could be deemed to be a violation of the Texas Open Meetings Act.
- 2. Communications should not be sent from one trustee to more than two other trustees, even if no reply is requested, expected, or received.
- 3. Trustees who have received messages should not forward them if the result is that a quorum of trustees receives the message.
- 4. If a trustee wishes to provide information to the entire board, the information should first be submitted to the Superintendent, who should then provide the information to the entire board.

Communication with Legal Counsel

 The Board authorizes the Superintendent and/or the Board President to contact legal counsel on behalf of the District.

07-Mar-2023 Page 17 of 26



Version 1.03

2. Board members are authorized to contact legal counsel on behalf of the District only after receiving Board President or Superintendent's approval to do so.

Communication with the Public

- 1. The Board will communicate with its community through public hearings, regular Board meetings, and community publications.
- An individual Board member, when speaking outside of the Board room, may state his/her opinion provided that the Board Member emphasizes that the opinion being expressed is his/her own and NOT the opinion of the Board.
- 3. Board members will not disclose information that is confidential by law or that will needlessly harm the District if disclosed.
- 4. At the time Board members are provided access to confidential records or to reports compiled from such records, the Superintendent or other District employee shall advise them of their responsibility to comply with confidentiality requirements.

Board / District Staff Communication

- 1. Board members have the right to communicate with district employees in personal conversation and social settings, as long as such communication does not circumvent the role and authority of the Superintendent.
- Circumvention occurs when the trustee's intent is to persuade employees, direct employees, elicit a
 position from employees, or obtain information from employees without the Superintendent's
 knowledge and consent.

Media Inquiries to the Board or Board Member

- 1. Board members should direct media calls to the Superintendent and then notify the Board President of the call.
- 2. Individual statements and responses by Board members are only individual statements and not representative of the entire Board. Any individual Board member making statements to the press, will emphasize they are not speaking for the Board.
- 3. The Board President shall be the official spokesperson for the Board to the media regarding Board matters should it be necessary.

Evaluation of the Superintendent

- 1. The Superintendent and Board shall function as a "Team of Eight".
- 2. Board members will receive training on a locally developed process for the Superintendent's performance evaluation.

07-Mar-2023 Page 18 of 26



Version 1.03

- 3. A summative (annual) evaluation will be conducted in June and formative evaluation will be conducted in December, unless the Superintendent has been employed for 15 months or less.
- 4. Each Board member will complete and bring to the designated evaluation meeting, the approved appraisal instrument.
- 5. Evaluation of the Superintendent will be conducted in executive session unless the Superintendent requests the evaluation be done in open session. Ratings and comments on the Superintendent's evaluation will be determined by Board consensus.
- 6. The Board will review the evaluation instrument at a meeting after the evaluation or at the evaluation to prepare it for the next evaluation cycle. Changes to the evaluation instrument, other than the listing of the new goals, should be approved by the Board.

Evaluation of the Board

- 1. The Superintendent and Board shall function as a "Team of Eight".
- 2. A formal self-evaluation of the Board shall be conducted annually using an instrument approved by the Board.
- 3. The formal self-evaluation will be conducted every April. The following questions will be deliberated.
 - a) Is the Board following Board Operating Procedures?
 - b) Is the "Team of Eight" functioning appropriately and effectively?
 - c) Were the goals set effective and were they accomplished?
- 4. The evaluation will be used to determine team-building training needs and such training will be conducted annually.
- 5. As deemed necessary, the Board shall utilize Closed Session under Texas Government Code 551.074 to evaluate and discuss the roles and responsibilities of Board members as allowed by law.
- 6. As deemed necessary, the Board shall utilize Closed Session under Texas Government Code 551.074 to hear complaints about public officials as allowed by law.
- 7. Board members may request that a discussion of the performance of the Board as a body corporate or the performance of individual Board members be placed on a properly posted agenda for discussion and possible action.
- 8. The Board may develop, as it deems appropriate, discussion items that address governance issues, Board policy issues and Board Member Code of Ethics, Board Code of Conduct, and Board Operating Procedures.

Criteria and Procedure for Selecting Board Officers

- Board Officers preferably have at least one year's experience as a Board member.
- 2. Officer elections will be held at the first regular meeting following the November Trustee Election. Board officer elections will be posted on the agenda and will be facilitated by the current Board President.
- 3. Election of officers will be conducted according to the policy Officers and Official Duties and Requirements

07-Mar-2023 Page 19 of 26



Version 1 03

of Board Officers (BDAAA Legal and Local). Board Officers are: President, Vice President, and Secretary.

President

- 1. Presides over all Board meetings unless unable to attend.
- 2. Creates committees as needed, for special projects, etc.
- Has authority to call Special Meetings.
- 4. Signs all legal documents required by law.
- 5. Requests to the Superintendent from the Board President will be distributed to all Board members.
- 6. Along with the Superintendent, sets the Board agendas.
- 7. Has the right to discuss, make motions and resolutions, and vote on all matters coming before the board.
- 8. Appoint all Board committees after consultation with the Board (Board sub-committees, or committees that report to the Board) unless otherwise provided by policy or Board consensus.
- 9. Shall attend and fulfill all required training for Board Presidents.
- 10. Ensures the Board adheres to Robert's Rules of Order.

Vice President

- 1. Acts in the capacity of the President, in his or her absence.
- 2. Becomes President only upon being elected to the position.

Secretary

- 1. Keeps, or causes to be kept, an accurate record of the proceedings of Board meetings.
- 2. Ensures that notices of Board meetings are posted and sent as required by law.
- Acts in the role of President in the absence of the President and Vice President.
- 4. Signs or countersigns as directed by action of the Board.

Office Vacancy

- 1. Vice-President shall fill a vacancy in the Presidency and a new Vice President shall be elected.
- 2. Vacancy among officers of the Board, other than that of the President, shall be filled by a majority action by the Board.

Criteria for Selecting the Board President and Vice President

07-Mar-2023 Page 20 of 26



Version 1.03

The role of the president is to bring focus to Board discussion and facilitate Board decision-making. To be effective, the president cannot use the office of president to foster his/her own agenda. To do so creates disharmony and mistrust. The president must believe that reasoned, thoughtful, data-driven discussion will bring about the best decisions, even if he/she may not personally agree with the decision. In addition to being a Board Member, the president must remove him/herself from the fray of the discussion and work constantly to bring the Board together as a team and seek a consensus position everyone can live with. To accomplish these objectives, a president must:

- Be a consensus builder
 - o not take sides
 - o get people to compromise
 - o insist that decisions be "data driven" rather than "I think"
- Be strong
 - o control meetings
 - o be able to live with criticism
 - be willing to take unpopular stands
- Listen (but not necessarily accept, believe, or act on everything he/she hears)
- Be trustworthy
 - o dependable (do what he/she promises to do)
 - o open (no hidden agendas) honest (always ethical and truthful)
 - o work effectively with the Superintendent
 - o Be secure (i.e. does not "need" to be president)

A person should be selected to be president because he/she has the skills and values described above, not because it is his/her "turn." Some people can be excellent Board Members but are simply not suited to be president.

Role and Authority of Board Members and/or Board Officers

- 1. Roles and authorities are set by state statute.
- 2. No Board member or officer has authority outside of the board meeting unless otherwise delegated by the Board.
- 3. Board members will not individually undertake to observe the performance of employees, including classroom teachers, for the purposes of "evaluating" a teacher's performance.
- 4. Board members will not reprimand or provide direction to staff. Directives to the Superintendent shall be in the confines of a duly called Board meeting.
- 5. Board members will not attempt to exert pressure or influence on the staff in order to coerce them into making particular recommendations or decisions.
- 6. Board members will not individually conduct interviews with prospective employees.
- 7. Board members will not give unsolicited recommendations for candidates for jobs throughout the district.
- 8. Board members will not direct personnel to consider vendors other than those recommended through the

07-Mar-2023 Page 21 of 26



Version 1.03

competitive bidding or proposal process.

- 9. No Board member shall direct employees in regard to their performance of their duties.
- 10. Board members as individuals shall not exercise authority over other Board members, the District, or its property.
- 11. The Board supervises and evaluates the Superintendent.

Role of the Board in Executive (Closed) Session

- Agenda Posting for Executive Sessions The posted agenda will list the topics to be discussed in the Executive Session.
- 2. Enter Executive Session -The Board may enter into Executive Session after the following requirements have been met:
 - a. The Board has first been convened in Open Session for which notice has been given.
 - b. The presiding officer has publicly announced in Open Session that an Executive Session will be held.
 - c. The presiding officer has identified the section or sections of Chapter 551, Texas Government Code, which authorize the holding of such Closed or Executive Session.
 - d. The presiding officer has publicly announced that no final action, decision, or vote will be taken by the Board while in Executive Session.
- Matters Under Discussion Executive Sessions are authorized for the following purposes:
 - a. For a private consultation with the Board's attorney with respect to pending or contemplated litigation, settlement offers, and matters where the attorney's duty to the Board, pursuant to the Code of Professional Responsibility of the State Bar of Texas, clearly conflicts with the provisions of the Open Meetings Act (to be identified as Legal Matters in the Notice).
 - b. To discuss the purchase, exchange, lease, or value of real property and negotiated contracts for prospective gifts or donations (to be identified as Real Estate/Donations in the Notice).
 - c. To consider the appointment, employment, evaluation, reassignment, duties, discipline or dismissal of a public officer or employee or to hear complaints or charges against a public officer or employee, unless such officer or employee requests a public hearing (to be identified as Personnel in the Notice).
 - d. To consider discipline of a public school child or children unless an open hearing is requested in writing by a parent or quardian of the child (to be identified as Hearings in the Notice).
 - e. To deliberate regarding the standards, guidelines, terms or conditions the Board will follow, or instruct its representatives, to follow, in consultation with representatives of employee groups, under consultation agreements formerly provided for by Section 13.90 I of the Texas Education Code.
 - f. To discuss any other item authorized by law to be considered in the Executive Session.
- 4. Actions, Decisions or Votes No final action, decision, or vote shall be taken while the Board is in Executive Session. The presiding officer shall so state prior to entering into Executive Session. The Board shall reconvene the Open Session after an Executive Session, prior to adjourning the meeting.
- 5. Record of Items Discussed in Executive Session The record of Executive Session proceedings shall be provided for review by every Board member present, prior to sealing.
- 6. Neither the Trustees nor the Superintendent shall disclose, to the public or their own family members, confidential information discussed in executive session.

07-Mar-2023 Page 22 of 26



Version 1.03

Required Board Member Training

- Board members are required to complete training as specified in Texas Education Code§11.159 and Policy BBD according to assessed needs.
- 2. New Board members shall participate in a local orientation session within 60 days before or after their election or appointment. Three (3) additional hours or orientation to the Texas Education Code are to be completed within the first year of service.
- 3. New Board members shall also complete ten (10) hours of continuing education during the first year of service.
- 4. Sitting Board members shall receive three (3) hours of orientation to the Texas Education Code and relevant legal obligations and at least (5) hours of continuing education each year following the first year.
- 5. As soon as possible after the November election, the entire Board along with the Superintendent shall annually participate in at least three (3) hours of team building training, facilitated by a registered provider.

District Goal Setting

- 1. A goal setting workshop will be conducted annually to develop long and short term plans for the District.
- 2. Superintendent's priorities will be based on goals each year.

Board Members as Parents

While Board members have no authority over staff members, it is often difficult for staff members to view the Board member as a parent rather than as a Board member.

- 1. Board members have the same rights as other parents to communicate with district employees regarding issues involving their own children.
- 2. Board members are encouraged to make it clear that they are acting as parents.
- 3. Board members shall follow the same rules and guidelines for all parents regarding campus visits.
- 4. Board members should not request nor accept extraordinary consideration for their children.

Board Members as School Support Organization Members/Officers

- Board members may join and support all school support organization activities.
- 2. Care must be exercised to ensure opinions expressed during school support organization meetings are clearly identified as personal opinions and not as a representation of the Board.
- 3. Board members may NOT act in their official Board member capacity during any school support

07-Mar-2023 Page 23 of 26



Version 1.03

organization, school support organization Board meetings, or school support organization sponsored activity.

4. Board members may serve as an officer (excluding the treasurer position) in the school support organization, but no more than two Board members should serve on the organization's board simultaneously in order to prevent any speculation that the Open Meetings Act has been violated.

Reimbursable Expenses

- 1. Board members shall be reimbursed for reasonable expenses for the following items:
 - a. Carrying out the business of the Board at the Board's request.
 - b. Attending meetings and conferences as official representatives of the Board.
 - c. Mileage, commercial transportation, parking, lodging, meals and other incidental expenses.
- 2. Board members shall not be reimbursed for the following items:
 - a. Expenses of family members who travel with Board members
 - b. Alcoholic beverages
 - c. Memberships to join organizations other than TASB unless approved by the Board
- 3. Any Board member traveling for the District for the specific purposes of representation, presentation, and advocacy, collaboration with other districts, information, or critical role in a meeting should put their requests in writing to the superintendent and the Board president for review. If District funds are needed to support the travel, the Superintendent and the Board President can approve the travel or they may choose to present the request to the Board at a scheduled meeting.
- 4. Total reimbursement for each Board member shall not exceed \$500 per budget year.

Campaigning for Election or Re-Election

- Board incumbents running for re-election shall not request or accept support from District employees during work time.
- 2. Board incumbents running for re-election shall not utilize District equipment or materials for campaign purposes.

Violations and Sanctions

- 1. Upon inclusion on the agenda and public posting in accordance with the law, the Board may convene in Executive Session to discuss a violation of the Board Operating Procedures, or other Board policies, so long as the deliberation is confined to the duties, discipline or complaint against a Board member.
- 2. The Board member may request that the deliberation be conducted in Open Session.
- 3. As a consequence of these deliberations, the Board may elect to take no action, or may reconvene in Open Session and vote to: (I) Publicly reprimand the Board member (2) Recommend additional training for the Board member (3) Authorize the Board President to remove the Board member from leadership positions in

07-Mar-2023 Page 24 of 26



Version 1.03

the District. Leadership positions include Board officer positions and membership on any district or campus level committee. The Board may utilize any or all of these sanctions as allowed by this section.

4. Nothing provided herein shall be construed to alter, modify or limit in any way the rights of school district personnel and members of the public to file complaints against the Board or Board members under applicable Board policies.

Board Review of Code of Ethics and Board Operating Procedures

- 1. The Board will annually review the Board Code of Ethics and Operating Procedures.
- 2. Each new Board member will be given a copy of the Board Code of Ethics and Operating Procedures prior to or at the new Board member's first Board meeting.
- 3. Outgoing Board members will be reminded of the prohibition of employment with the district, including substitute teaching, for a period of one calendar year from the date of leaving office.

Procedures for Board Members Visiting Campuses

- 1. Board members will complete the proper background check paperwork.
- 2. Board members will check-in with the Superintendent.
- 3. Board members, when possible, are encouraged to attend school events and activities.

07-Mar-2023 Page 25 of 26



Version 1.03

Document Revision History

Version	Date	Name	Description
1.00	13-Feb-2018	Kandice Samuelson	Initial version approved by the Coupland I.S.D. School Board on 13-Feb-2018. This document will become effective immediately with the exception of the section on Board Members as School Support Organization Members/Officers which will become effective on 01-Jun-2018.
1.01	13-Apr-2018	Kandice Samuelson	Modified Developing the Agenda section item #2 to match updated Policy BE (Local). Deadline for submitting items was changed from third calendar day to seventh calendar day before regular meetings.
1.02	August 3, 2022	Tammy Brinkman	Removed #6 on page 14-no longer legal to do; updated mission statement on page 4
1.03	March 7, 2023	TAmmy Brinkman	Updated from BOT meeting in Feb. 2023

07-Mar-2023 Page 26 of 26